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[English]

The Chair (Mr. Sven Spengemann (Mississauga—Lakeshore,
Lib.)): Colleagues, welcome to meeting number 20 of the Standing
Committee on Foreign Affairs and International Development.

[Translation]

Pursuant to Standing Order 108(2) and the motion adopted by the
committee on Thursday, October 22, 2020, the committee resumes
its study of the vulnerabilities created and exacerbated by the
COVID-19 pandemic.

[English]

To ensure an orderly meeting, as usual I encourage all partici-
pants to mute their microphones when they're not speaking and to
direct their comments through the chair.

When you have 30 seconds left in your questioning or speaking
time, I will signal with this piece of paper in a very analog fashion.

Interpretation services are available through the globe icon at the
bottom of your screen.

[Translation]

I would like to welcome our witnesses from the Fondation Paul
Gérin-Lajoie: Christian Champigny, acting manager for internation-
al programs, and Florence Massicotte-Banville, international
project officer.

[English]
Also, I would like to welcome Scott Walter, executive director of
CODE; Lorraine Swift, executive director of the Change for Chil-

dren Association, or CFCA; and Chris Eaton, executive director of
the World University Service of Canada.

[Translation]

I now give the floor to the representatives of the Fondation Paul
Gérin-Lajoie for their five-minute presentation.

[English]

If it's possible to keep your remarks to four minutes, it will be
even better for our time for questioning by members, but I will al-
low all witnesses up to five minutes of opening remarks.

[Translation]

The representatives of the Fondation Paul Gérin-Lajoie have the
floor.

Mr. Christian Champigny (Acting Manager for International
Programs, Fondation Paul Gérin-Lajoie): Thank you, Mr. Chair
and members of the committee.

Education is a fundamental human right and a powerful agent of
change essential to the achievement of each of the 17 sustainable
development goals. Recognizing this transformative power of edu-
cation, the international community has set itself the goal of ensur-
ing quality, inclusive and equitable education and promoting life-
long learning opportunities for all by 2030. The Fondation Paul
Gérin-Lajoie has made this goal the core of its mission.

It is important to remember that even before the COVID-19 pan-
demic, the world faced several challenges in the education sector.
For example, 258 million children and young people of primary
and secondary school age were out of school. Children living in
vulnerable or conflict-affected countries were more than twice as
likely to be out of school. Girls were one and a half times more
likely than boys to be excluded from primary school.

Today, the pandemic is further jeopardizing the achievement of
this goal. In fact, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused the greatest
disruption to education in history since its emergence. Ninety-four
per cent of the world's pupils and students were impacted by the
pandemic through containment measures and school closures.
That's 1.6 billion children and young people.

The crisis has highlighted the significant digital divide between
countries. Learners, especially female learners, from low- and mid-
dle-income countries, and particularly displaced persons and
refugees, have had very limited access to the distance learning mea-
sures that have been put in place. The closure of schools has led to
an increase in unpaid domestic chores and caring activities for
many girls, female adolescents and young women, limiting their ac-
cess to education. The crisis has exposed girls, female adolescents
and young women to a variety of protection risks, including depriv-
ing them of the structure and sense of trust that schools normally
provide.
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The negative effects of the pandemic will also worsen as a result
of a possible global economic crisis. Here are some examples: the
declining economic power of households, which will lead to higher
school drop-out rates—it is estimated that some 24 million chil-
dren, adolescents and young people may drop out or not have ac-
cess to school this year simply because of the economic impact of
the pandemic; school dropouts, which will be accompanied by a
marked increase in child labour, sexual exploitation and early mar-
riage; cuts in national education budgets, directly affecting schools
and teachers; and a possible significant drop in official develop-
ment assistance, which could result in a reduction in aid to educa-
tion of $2 billion U.S. by 2022.

As part of its international projects, the Fondation Paul Gérin-La-
joie has been able to observe the impacts of the crisis in the field.
For example, thanks to funding from Global Affairs Canada, the
foundation is currently implementing, in conjunction with the Cen-
tre d'étude et de coopération internationale, a project for the educa-
tion of refugee and displaced girls in Burundi, Rwanda and the
Democratic Republic of Congo.

More than 60,000 Burundian refugees were confined in the Ma-
hama camp in Rwanda due to the pandemic, while for many, the
only opportunities to earn an income were outside the camp.
Schools had to close down. Based on our observations, we antici-
pate that a significant number of girls will not return to their educa-
tional path, particularly to support their families economically. We
also note a sharp increase in early pregnancies, another important
factor limiting the return to school. For many children in this camp,
especially many girls and female adolescents, the pandemic will
mean a loss or delay in learning, or the cessation of their schooling,
and will leave a mark on the future of an entire generation.

In conclusion, the Fondation Paul Gérin-Lajoie wishes to add its
voice to those of the hundred or so organizations advocating for the
right to education that endorse the white paper produced by the
"Save Our Future" campaign, which proposes a series of measures
to be carried out in the medium and long term to avoid an educa-
tional disaster.

We would like to draw your attention to two key elements of this
white paper which, in our view, deserve special consideration.

Firstly, in response to the crisis, there may be a temptation to fo-
cus everything on a catch-up logic by concentrating on children
newly affected by the educational deficit and on an overuse of tech-
nology-assisted learning, thereby diverting attention from the fun-
damental pre-existing structural problems in learning. However, it
is essential that education sector policies and reforms are not only
reactive and short-term, but focus on proven interventions and par-
ticularly on strengthening the education workforce.

Secondly, it will be important to protect education funding. This
means, among other things, advocating for the preservation of edu-
cation budgets in developing countries and protecting official de-
velopment assistance for education.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.
® (1540)
The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Champigny.

[English]

We will now move to our next set of opening remarks.

Mr. Scott Walter of CODE, please, the floor is yours.

Mr. Scott Walter (Executive Director, CODE): Good after-
noon, and thank you for the opportunity to speak with you today.

My observations are based on the experiences of CODE, the
Canadian NGO established 60 years ago to support development
through education, and that of our partners and the programming
that we jointly support in Africa.

Quality education is empowering, allowing the individual the
chance to realize their full potential and contribute to the well-being
of their family, their community and to the nation as a whole. This
is the basis for a global framework such as Education For All.

Initially, there was consensus that Education For All meant prior-
itizing universal enrolment in primary school, but it was quickly re-
alized that that only mattered if the students were actually gaining
skills and learning. Without quality there's little return on invest-
ment. How do we measure that sought-after quality?

In that regard, there's no more foundational indicator than
whether or not the child can read and write. It's the canary in the
coal mine, the notification of problems to come. A child can't read
and so falls further and further behind until they drop out as an illit-
erate. One learns to read in order to comprehend, and the failure to
acquire the skills of literacy impacts the ability to move beyond ba-
sic learning and on to higher order thinking skills so needed in to-
day's world, the skills of problem solving and critical thinking.

For those of us working in the sector, it has been clear for a great
number of years that far too many students are not learning to read
and write. The scenario is so dire across the developing world that
the World Bank declared a learning crisis, one that threatens coun-
tries' efforts to build human capital and achieve the sustainable de-
velopment goals.

Make no mistake about it. Human capital, which is basically a
measure of productivity, is the most important component of wealth
globally. In low-income countries, human capital makes up some
40% of wealth; in high-income countries, it makes up over 70%.

According to UNESCO, if all students in low-income countries
left school with elementary reading skills, 171 million people could
be lifted out of poverty, the equivalent of a 12% cut in global
poverty. In other words, there's a huge cost to illiteracy and poor-
quality education, so we welcome the call by the World Bank to cut
by half the global rate of learning poverty, defined as the percent-
age of 10-year-old children who cannot read.
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You may be thinking, wasn't he supposed to talk about the im-
pact of COVID-19? Well, I am, in the sense that the evidence
shows that school closures caused by the pandemic exacerbated all
the previous existing inequalities, and that those children who are
already most at risk of being excluded from a quality education—
the poorest, the most marginalized—have been most affected.

Girls are particularly vulnerable. CODE, for example, is very ac-
tive in Sierra Leone and Liberia, and we know from the Ebola
school closures of a couple of years ago that girls were less likely
to return once schools reopened. With lockdowns and restrictions,
and the economy in freefall, it was the girls who took on greater re-
sponsibilities that kept them at home or even forced them into early
marriage. We also saw that, with isolation, girls were at increased
risk of sexual exploitation, and teenage pregnancy rates doubled.

During COVID and beyond, we feel it's critically important to
address the learning crisis by focusing on literacy. CODE believes
this can best be accomplished by supporting sustained access to rel-
evant quality reading and learning materials with a corresponding
effort to ensure educators have the skills to use those materials ef-
fectively.

Access to technology is very limited where we work, and in
many cases the solution is low tech. Support the local publishing
industries, for example, to produce great learning materials through
traditional print, or virtual classrooms with radio reading teachers.
Digital learning, access to the Internet, the creation of interactive
learning modules are probably best focused on the teachers rather
than the students.

The loss of learning is real and severe, and the resulting impact
of greater levels of learning poverty will be felt for years, but we're
not without tools and we know more can be done to support the
foundational skills of literacy. We need to support kids to become
readers wherever they are.

Thank you.
® (1545)
The Chair: Thank you so much.

We'll now turn to Lorraine Swift from the Change for Children
Association.

The floor is yours for five minutes, please.

Ms. Lorraine Swift (Executive Director, Change for Children
Association (CFCA)): Good afternoon, everyone. Thank you for
the opportunity to speak to this committee.

This year Change for Children is celebrating its 45th anniversary
of support for rights-based development in the global south and an
award-winning global education program in Canada. Based in
western Canada, we do appreciate being included in this discussion.
For me, it is an honour to be invited to testify here as I've worked in
international development for the past 25 years.

Given that you've already heard testimony from many others in
this field, my presentation will focus on our unique perspective as
an Alberta-based NGO working with indigenous populations in the
developing world that are already vulnerable, marginalized and
hardest hit by the impacts of climate change.

Change for Children enjoys significant support for our work
from Albertans and Canadians, including from Global Affairs
Canada. Donor support for our climate change mitigation program
and for our education and health projects in indigenous communi-
ties actually increased in 2020. Our brigade program, while not of-
fered currently, obviously, allows Canadian medical, dental, optom-
etry and teacher professionals to offer much-needed support and
services to some of the world's most remote populations. Since
2000, our brigades have taken over 1,000 Canadians into the UN-
ESCO biosphere reserve called Bosawas in Nicaragua, home to the
Miskito and Mayangna indigenous peoples. Poverty and food inse-
curity have increased here because of climate change and because
of COVID-19. This area was hit hard by the back-to-back hurri-
canes Eta and lota that ravaged Central America last fall.

In some of the world's most remote indigenous communities we
see families struggling to survive in the face of their existing vul-
nerabilities, now exacerbated by the pandemic. We also see that
women and girls suffer the most. Persisting gender discrimination
means that women and girls living in extreme poverty are the most
vulnerable to some of the least visible impacts of COVID-19 and of
climate change. We see girls suffering from disrupted education,
time poverty and increased risks.

There is a solution. We know that quality education for girls is a
public health and a climate change solution. Education empowers
girls to take control over their own bodies, enabling them to deter-
mine when, and if, to bear children. Fewer children mean healthier
populations and lower carbon emissions. Education tackles the un-
derlying inequalities that increase girls' vulnerability to COVID-19
and to climate change.

In the Americas, the regions with the lowest levels of education
for girls are indigenous. Realizing the rights for indigenous people
is essential to recovery. Earlier this month, Elon Musk offered $100
million for the best carbon capture technology. His tweet was met
with the response, "Congratulations to whoever invents forests."
Forest preservation is our best defence against climate change and
against COVID-19 and against future pandemics. While not the in-
ventors of forests, indigenous peoples are indeed their stewards.
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Indigenous people in all countries of the world fall into the most
vulnerable health category. They have significantly higher rates of
diseases, higher mortality rates and lower life expectancies than
their non-indigenous counterparts. Change for Children works with
indigenous communities in some of the most remote forest regions
of the Americas. We work promoting climate change adaptation
and mitigation. We work promoting technology-enabled indigenous
language education. We work with indigenous populations
marginalized from all services due to their remoteness and because
of their ethnicity. There is a high likelihood that they will be
marginalized from future access to COVID-19 vaccines as well.

Today we are facing overlapping global health emergencies:
COVID-19 and climate change. Both exacerbate pre-existing in-
equalities and vulnerabilities. Both have the ability to bring health
systems and economies to their knees. Both dial back progress on
every human development indicator by at least 10 years. To build
back better, we must design our COVID-19 recovery plans to facili-
tate collaboration amongst all actors. Small and medium-sized or-
ganizations—SMOs like Change for Children—working for
decades with strong connections in some of the world's most re-
mote communities are central and essential to this recovery.

We cannot design effective recovery plans if we have no funding
to implement them. We cannot reach the most vulnerable and re-
mote communities without means. Global Affairs Canada has not
called for proposals from SMOs since early 2019.

COVID-19 has taught us that we are not safe in Canada until we
are all safe globally. We must do more. We continue to need stable
and consistent funding from the Government of Canada for SMOs
to build back better from COVID-19 and to continue our vital and
important work towards achieving the sustainable development
goals by 2030.

Thank you.
® (1550)
The Chair: Thank you so much.

For our final set of opening remarks, we will go to Chris Eaton
of the World University Service of Canada.

The floor is yours for five minutes, sir.

Mr. Chris Eaton (Executive Director, World University Ser-
vice of Canada): Thank you.

My organization, WUSC, works to expand education and em-
ployment opportunities for marginalized youth, and has a strong
presence in Iraq, in Jordan, in the refugee camps and host commu-
nities of northern Kenya and northern Uganda, and in South Sudan.
In all of these places, we have been working with local institutions
to foster better quality education and employment outcomes for
girls, young women and refugees. As in Canada, all of these young
people have been affected by the pandemic with the closure of
schools and a marked decrease in local economic activities and em-
ployment opportunities.

In these circumstances, refugee and out-of-school girls are par-
ticularly vulnerable to significant learning losses and to the lost so-
cial protection that schools often provide. Our current concern is
that many of these young people will not return to class as schools

open, and that those who do so will not receive the support they
need to catch up and stay in school. This will result in higher
dropout rates, lower graduation rates, early marriage and depressed
future incomes.

Indeed, we are already seeing a significant decline in the return
rates of girls to now-open schools in the Kakuma and Dadaab
refugee camps in northern Kenya where we work.

Refugees and their host communities have not been passive in
this context. Instead, they have been part of the response to the edu-
cation crisis that COVID has caused and should form an important
part of the longer-term solution. For example, we witnessed many
instances of refugee and host communities undertaking door-to-
door campaigns to identify vulnerable students and organizing peer
support learning clubs and ed-tech sharing groups—all initiatives
that have prevented some dropouts and learning losses, provided
some ongoing social protection and, perhaps most importantly,
helped to sustain a sense of hope amongst these vulnerable youth.

These efforts are unfortunately under-recognized, undervalued
and under-supported by governments and the international develop-
ment community. This is incredibly short-sighted, as these kinds of
refugee-led initiatives are an essential complement to the other in-
vestments in teacher education, smaller classroom sizes and the in-
tegration of education technology in remote classrooms and com-
munities, all of which need to happen.

In this context, the government's recently announced “together
for learning” campaign, which seeks to mount an international ef-
fort to ensure that all refugee and displaced children and youth have
access to the education they need and deserve is well-timed. How-
ever, to realize this campaign's potential and meet the increased
needs of vulnerable youth and children caused by COVID, the gov-
ernment really needs to ensure sufficient and consistent funding, in
part by investing in innovative approaches that support refugee-led
responses to the education challenges that they face. Now really is
the time to invest.

I will conclude my remarks with two recommendations.

First, the government has already committed to allocate no less
than 10% of Canada's international assistance budget to education,
but to education broadly. Now is the time to further focus these re-
sources to direct a significant percentage of this commitment to the
“together for learning” campaign, recognizing that refugee educa-
tion has not received the level of support that it deserves in
Canada's international development efforts.
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Second, the government should create a fund directly to support
refugee voices, leadership, organizations and responses in the edu-
cation sector. This could be modelled on the equality fund, which
the government helped to create in 2019 to permanently change the
model of support to women's rights organizations. Similarly, a fund
to permanently change the model of support to refugee-led organi-
zations and responses would address a critical gap in the global
refugee support architecture. It could form an important new instru-
ment in Canada's international development tool kit and become a
pillar of the “together for learning” campaign.

® (1555)
The Chair: Thank you so much.

I'd like to thank our witnesses again for their opening remarks.

We'll now go into our first round of questions. These are six-
minute segments.

Leading us off will be Mr. Diotte.

Mr. Kerry Diotte (Edmonton Griesbach, CPC): Thank you
very much.

Thanks to all the witnesses especially for all the good work that
they do.

I'm going to ask a very general question. We've certainly heard
from every witness who's come before this committee about how
important it is that children get to school and get educated in per-
son. Of course, we've seen throughout the world a big push, espe-
cially by teachers and even teacher's unions, saying, “No, we can't
send kids back. It's too dangerous; COVID infections are going to
go through the roof, etc.”

First of all, I'm wondering if we've seen a trend in underdevel-
oped countries where there is a push to keep kids out of school be-
cause of COVID fears. Second, how can we fight against that so
that teachers will feel comfortable going back to the classroom, en-
couraging their students to come back to get an education, which
we all agree is absolutely vital, especially in underdeveloped coun-
tries?

I'll just throw that open to each one of you to comment on.

Mr. Scott Walter: I guess I'll jump in.

I think, in part, to say.... In Africa anyway, which is where we
work and what I'm familiar with, there hasn't been that same reluc-
tance to send their kids to school or to get them back into school.
Now that differs across the board, of course, but there's not much in
the way of an alternative. Online learning technology is simply not
available. Kids do not have access to the Internet. They don't have
access to broadband. They don't have access to the devices that are
needed. It's not really like there's an alternative.

Now in some families, they've made a choice already about how
many of their children can go to school, because there's a cost even
if there are no fees. It does tend to be the boys who are prioritized
over the girls, so we definitely need campaigns at the national level
from the government and from NGOs to encourage kids to go back
to school. For the most part, schools have reopened in Africa. From
my knowledge, kids are back in school and are ready to go. Howev-

er, as everybody said, for example, the most marginalized, girls, the
most vulnerable, are not returning in the same numbers.

I guess that would be my comment, that there's just no alterna-
tive to a face-to-face classroom.

Mr. Kerry Diotte: Would others have opinions on that?

Mr. Christian Champigny: I would add to this that school as a
physical space has also its advantages, not only for education but
also as a sort of not necessarily safe space but a point of reference
and a place where, in some instances, kids go to school and have
one complete meal a day. In some areas, that is provided, and it's
the only full meal that, in some instances, they will have. There's
also protection for girls. That is one major advantage of the physi-
cal presence at school.

There are certain elements that go beyond the education aspect
that advocate for physical presence in school.

Mr. Kerry Diotte: Do any others have something to weigh in
with?

Mr. Chris Eaton: Yes.

Similarly, we haven't experienced the same reticence of teachers
to return to the classroom or of parents in general to send their kids
back. We are witnessing a situation in which girls in particular are
not returning in the same numbers as boys. We also have a situation
in East Africa where schools were closed for a much longer period
of time than they were here in Canada, and nothing was happening
during that time period.

In some respects, there was a real pent-up demand to get back to
school but, on the other hand, I think, tougher choices in families
about who to send back because of some of the barriers that the
families face or some of the choices that they make. Unfortunately,
that disadvantages the people that we're most concerned about: the
most vulnerable, refugees themselves, and girls.

® (1600)

Ms. Lorraine Swift: I will just add to this that in so many
places—and as we all testified to already existing vulnerabilities
that exist for so many kids and also teachers in places where we
work—they have no personal protective equipment. There's no way
for them to protect themselves against.... They have super-over-
crowded classrooms. Really, there are so many other places where
we need to invest in order to be able to confront the dangers of
COVID. There are just so many things that require our attention as
well as COVID recovery funds.

Mr. Kerry Diotte: I'll end it there because I see that we're tick-
ing down the seconds.

Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you. That's appreciated, Mr. Diotte. That may
allow us to go to a brief second round.

Our next six-minute round goes to Ms. Saks.

Please go ahead.
Ms. Ya'ara Saks (York Centre, Lib.): Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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Thank you to all of our witnesses for the wonderful, amazing
work they do for so many communities across the world, for the
time and effort that's put in, and also particularly for their time with
us today.

I'd like to start with Mr. Walter in relation to CODE and the
transforming girls' education program in Sierra Leone, which the
Government of Canada, I understand, is helping to support.

I am struck by the group's finding that, for the girls in Sierra
Leone, as the girls reached puberty, enrolment, retention and com-
pletion rates declined, and there was an increasing learning gap be-
tween girls and boys over time as they transitioned into secondary
school.

We've heard there has been a heightened reduction, obviously, in
education during this time due to COVID. We keep hearing that
same statistic of the gap with girls, but we haven't homed in on why
there is that gender gap and what its impact is. I'd really appreciate
some insight on that.

Mr. Scott Walter: I'll try to respond to a couple of things.

One, I think, is that in Sierra Leone, for example, which is some-
what unique with its post-conflict scenario, there are much fewer
female teachers in the classrooms. The girls don't have those men-
tors, those role models to look up to. One of the things that the
TGEP is doing is paying for scholarships for young women to go to
teachers' college to increase the number of women who are in
teaching and in the classroom.

Another thing is that girls are starting later than boys. One of the
things we know for sure is that if they don't catch up, if they don't
advance, they will drop out. That's in part because of the pressure
from their families. If they're not achieving, really the families
would just as soon quite often have them at home doing domestic
work or working in the market. There are also the pressures of early
marriage. Girls in Sierra Leone are getting married at 13, 14 or 15
years of age, and that's often an economic reality. In some coun-
tries, the ages are, in fact, quite a bit younger where you first start
seeing early marriage.

I think there is also still a gender imbalance in the sense of the
quality of the materials. I've spoken about literacy and the impor-
tance of getting kids to be reading and writing, because that's the
gate that opens up the rest of the learning to them. If they aren't
able to read and write, they can't then progress in science, math,
history or whatever the other subjects might be.

Often the learning materials, if available, put forward stereotypes
of girls, stereotypes that they should really be looking to other,
more domestic realities for themselves.

I think that gap is one that's based on a number of things: on the
quality of teaching, on the quality of the resources available, on the
fact that they're starting late, on the fact that there is often more
pressure for them to leave in the first place, and on the fact that
there is a lack of role models.

I am probably not doing a great job of expressing them, but these
are the main points that are impacting young girls.

® (1605)
Ms. Ya'ara Saks: Thank you very much.

Do any of the other witnesses want to weigh in on this in relation
to other countries and their experiences in education?

Mr. Eaton.

Mr. Chris Eaton: We've seen the gap actually close in a lot of
countries in Africa, in a lot of the places in which we work, and
particularly close at a primary level. In some respects, in a place
like Kenya, girls are actually better off than boys in many of the
districts of the country. That gap is starting to close also at a sec-
ondary level. Where it's not closing are in those particularly fragile
places, like the remote parts of Kenya or Sierra Leone, the remote
parts of northern Uganda or South Sudan, or among protracted
refugee situations.

I think there is an intuition there about where to focus our energy
and resources, because those are the people who are particularly
vulnerable.

Girls, in general, are doing better in education across the conti-
nent, except in a number of really significant pockets where we
need to attend our attention.

Ms. Ya'ara Saks: Thank you. That leads me into my next ques-
tion.

In February of this year, Minister Gould announced the launch of
“together for learning”, which is a three-year campaign to promote
quality education and lifelong learning for refugees and vulnerable
displaced people, especially children and youth.

With what you've just mentioned, Mr. Eaton, and with that com-
mitment in place, I'd like to know how you see our role playing out
over that three-year commitment. You touched on this in your
opening statement, and I'd like to unpack it a bit more, since our
government has made this commitment to education for vulnerable
communities where there is conflict.

The Chair: Mr. Eaton, give a very brief answer, please.

Mr. Chris Eaton: We don't know the details of the campaign
yet, because they are still being worked out. We also don't know the
financial commitment behind the campaign. The campaign and the
focus are well justified, but now we need to make sure they're
backed up by the resources necessary to have an impact.

The Chair: Thank you very much.
Thank you, Ms. Saks.
[Translation]

Mr. Bergeron, you have the floor for six minutes.

Mr. Stéphane Bergeron (Montarville, BQ): Thank you,
Mr. Chair.

I would also like to thank the witnesses who are taking part in
this meeting. Their input is most relevant to the work of this com-
mittee.

It is very inspiring to hear you and to see your determination to
move forward despite the difficulties.
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The portrait that is painted for us, from one testimony to the next,
is extremely depressing. Last time, I asked a question about hope. 1
asked if there was still hope. The dedication and determination you
show is what keeps us hopeful. So thank you very much for who
you are and what you do.

I would first like to address the representatives of the Fondation
Paul Gérin-Lajoie. You have quoted, both in a press release and on
your website, this statement by Nelson Mandela:

Education is the most powerful weapon which you can use to change the world.

However, as mentioned earlier, between 250 million and
260 million school-age children are not in school. As you are in-
volved in operations both at home and abroad, you know that en-
suring that children in a developed country are literate, are interest-
ed in reading, grammar, writing and spelling, and perform well in
these areas, is already a challenge. Of course, one might think that
the situation is even more complex in developing countries.

There was already a problem with the structures that enable
learning in developing countries. Yet we were told repeatedly that
these difficulties were exacerbated by the pandemic. As we know,
students in Canada and Quebec have difficulty maintaining their
motivation and level of achievement because of distance learning.
For logistical reasons, this is an additional challenge.

This exacerbated situation leads us to believe—I am referring
here to a World Bank statistic—that closing schools for three, five
or seven months or even longer will eventually result in a loss of
income for these children. This crisis will therefore have the effect
of increasing poverty in the long term. That's probably why one of
the witnesses told us—I think it was again a representative of the
Fondation Paul Gérin-Lajoie— that we are witnessing perhaps the
most serious education crisis in history. Added to that is the diffi-
culty in accessing the vaccine in developing countries.

In a simple, orderly, systematic way, what could be done to ad-
dress this series of multifaceted problems we are currently facing?
Where should we start and in what order should we proceed?

® (1610)
Mr. Christian Champigny: Thank you, Mr. Bergeron.

This question is obviously extremely complex and no one is in a
position to answer it with certainty.

You spoke of hope and of the 258 million children who did not
already have access to education. I don't know if my colleagues in
other organizations will agree with me, but this is a decrease com-
pared to what existed. I think there have been improvements in edu-
cation, but the problem is much broader, and the current crisis is
certainly an economic crisis that will increase the barriers to access
to education.

I've worked in this field for many years and I've seen that people
generally have a thirst for knowledge and a desire to learn. But
there are shortcomings in terms of the quality of education, the
structure of education or the economic, sometimes cultural, capaci-
ty to access it. This is what needs to be worked on above all.

Where do we start? In other societies or in our societies, I would
say that everything has to develop at the same time. When I talked

about the biggest educational disaster, the COVID-19 crisis, I also
mentioned the white paper "Save Our Future,” which has been en-
dorsed by about 100 organizations. I invite you to consult it, be-
cause it talks exactly about the COVID-19 crisis—it is very recent.
We can talk about an educational disaster, but education is also a
source of hope. Certainly, this is not going to be solved overnight,
and we have to try to include as many people as possible in this
movement.

We welcome the initiative that Minister Gould presented a few
weeks ago on the education of refugees, particularly refugee and
displaced girls. This initiative must be supported by funding, of
course. We are waiting for news in this regard, as Mr. Eaton men-
tioned.

It will therefore take shape, but gradually. Indeed, it is a gradual
process, but you have to start somewhere, and education is an abso-
lutely crucial starting point.

The Chair:
Mr. Champigny.

Thank you very much, Mr. Bergeron and

[English]
The final six-minute round goes to Ms. McPherson.

Please go ahead.

Ms. Heather McPherson (Edmonton Strathcona, NDP):
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I want to thank all of our witnesses today. I'm always very im-
pressed with the work that organizations such as yours do. It's nice
to see some of my past colleagues on the call this afternoon.

One of the things this committee doesn't often get to do is to hear
from a variety of different organizations that are engaged in inter-
national development efforts around the world. I'm delighted that
we have a number of small and medium-sized organizations repre-
sented. I think it's important that those voices get amplified be-
cause, of course, it's always a little bit harder for a smaller organi-
zation to engage with the federal government in a meaningful man-
ner.

I'm going to direct the first couple of questions to CODE and to
Change for Children.

In terms of the role of small and medium organizations in
Canada, and the role in terms of our official development assis-
tance, could you talk about how important it is that we are support-
ing our small and medium organizations? What key roles do SMOs
play in the development landscape?

Ms. Swift, could I start with you, please?
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® (1615)

Ms. Lorraine Swift: Sure. I'm always great at answering this
question of why SMOs should be funded. We are very agile, and
we're innovative. We can pivot quickly to respond to the needs of
the communities where we have been connected to very specific
people in specific places from across the globe, sometimes for 40 to
60 years. There are SMOs across this country that have been
around for decades that really gain their support from their local
communities.

We mobilize and leverage support from across the country; here
in Alberta not so much these days, but there is a lot of wealth here,
and we have been able to double the capacity of our Global Affairs
Canada funded projects with our matching grants from Albertans
and Albertan corporations and foundations.

We also connect Albertans and indeed Canadians from across the
country from small towns and indigenous communities with our
communities that we work with overseas. Through our brigade pro-
grams, we take people who wouldn't necessarily understand the de-
tails of international development, and they get to see first-hand the
impacts of their support.

We also educate Canadians. We have school outreach programs.
We're in the schools. We're making presentations. We're doing that
across Alberta, Saskatchewan and British Columbia. We basically
bring the global community to western Canada, which is some-
thing.... If we didn't have NGOs based out here, maybe the involve-
ment in international development would end with writing a cheque
and mailing it to Ottawa.

There's a lot to say about how we engage Canadians and how we
leverage support from across the country.

Ms. Heather McPherson: Thank you so much.

Mr. Walter, could I turn to you next, please?

Mr. Scott Walter: 1 would respond that, as a smaller organiza-
tion, we don't try nor are we able to be all things to all people. As a
result, we're very focused. We've been around for a long time, but
we're very focused on the question of the quality of education. If
there's one thing that's universal, it's that parents want a better life
for their children, but they're not stupid. If they don't see their kids
gaining or learning at school, they'll pull them out.

What we do is focus on what we think can make the greatest im-
pact. Often big organizations are involved with all manner of com-
munity, school and infrastructure programs, but a school is not a
school until there's a teacher inside it with good books. That's
where we focus.

It happens to be something that Canada knows a lot about. We
produce some of the best teachers in the world. We also know a lot
about the importance of indigenous publishing to produce a nation-
al literature that children can relate to, that speaks to them and that
reflects what their reality is in a relevant way. Relevant means be-
ing linguistically relevant, relevant quality-wise, and relevant to the
length of the curriculum.

That's what we do, and we think we have a special role to do it.

Ms. Heather McPherson: Thank you very much.

Speaking about relevant curriculum and education, I'm going to
turn to Mr. Eaton, if [ may.

You spoke a bit about the importance of education for refugees.
We know that women and girls are disproportionately impacted by
COVID. We know that girls are at most risk, especially when they
are refugees, indigenous or living with a disability.

How do we make sure, as we develop the together for learning
program, that it meets the needs of those girls and that refugees are
at the table as part of the discussions to develop it? What would
you as a Canadian organization like to see that program look like?

® (1620)

Mr. Chris Eaton: We have a tremendous network of people here
in Canada who have the lived experience of being refugees and
who have actually come to Canada because of the educational op-
portunities offered to them in other parts of the world and here in
Canada. This is emphasizing that focus on education. There is thus
this tremendous expertise across Canada that we could draw on to
inform the design of the campaign itself.

I think that the campaign at its heart has to have something that
accentuates values and supports refugee leadership itself, not only
in Canada but globally in the places in which we want to do some
more educational work.

We have an equality fund that does outstanding work with wom-
en's rights organizations. How about having something just like it
that supports refugee-led responses, refugee voices, refugee agency
in the educational space, in the parts of Africa where all of us work
and in other parts of the world as well? I'd like to see something
like that at the heart of the campaign.

Ms. Heather McPherson: Thank you very much.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Colleagues, we're hovering at the 10-minute mark of
our scheduled time with witnesses. I would propose to do what
we've done a few times before, which is to divide that time evenly,
to give every party a chance to ask another question—somewhere
in the neighbourhood of two and a half minutes per questioner.

Let me just mention to our witnesses that there have been a cou-
ple of times when interpretation has had difficulty picking up the
sound. It was marginal. It wasn't severe enough to interrupt. If you
could speak as loudly and clearly into your microphone as possible,
that would assist interpretation services greatly.

Mr. Genuis, please take us through the first of these two-and-a-
half-minute rounds.
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Mr. Garnett Genuis (Sherwood Park—Fort Saskatchewan,
CPC): Thank you so much to all of the witnesses.

There is something I would like clarity on, because it's an impor-
tant point. Ms. Swift, I wrote down that you said “Fewer children
mean healthier populations and lower carbon emissions.”

Did I get that correctly from you?
Ms. Lorraine Swift: Yes.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: At one time, people might have made the
argument that fewer children was something that was desirable
from a development perspective. That happened in the context of
various coercive population controls that tried to push the message
on women that they should have smaller families, that they needed
to have smaller families.

A lot of emerging data—I'm referring to a paper by Wesley Pe-
terson, “The Role of Population in Economic Growth”, which does
a sort of historical survey. It notes:

In low-income countries, rapid population growth is likely to be detrimental in
the short and medium term because it leads to large numbers of dependent children.

In the longer run, there is likely to be a demographic dividend in these countries as
these young people become productive adults.

We're seeing in countries that have had higher population growth
rates, for example, dramatic economic growth. Such is the case in
many countries in Africa, and there are many other countries, such
as China, that have had aggressive, coercive population control
policies that have been very violent in their implications. The im-
pact of those policies now is an aging population and inevitable im-
pending demographic problems.

Is the case you're making that we should emphasize choice for
people, or is it that we should try to push the message that people
should not have larger families, even if that's what they wish to
have in some of these countries?

Ms. Lorraine Swift: I'm not sure how much time I have to re-
spond to that, but it's well documented that family planning avail-
able to women and girls allows them to decide when to have chil-
dren and how many to have, and basic math around carbon emis-
sions tells us that every person on the planet is contributing to cli-
mate change.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Can I just clarify, though, madam, that
we're talking about two different things. There's the issue of giving
people information and choice, and then there's the issue of pushing
the message that you should have a smaller family. Those are two
conceptually distinct things, right?

Ms. Lorraine Swift: Right.
The Chair: Just really quickly, please. We only have seconds
left.

Ms. Lorraine Swift: Women who have information about how
to control how many children they have are typically having fewer
children, because they don't want to have 12 children. It's not push-
ing the message to have fewer children, but it is giving women the
choice to control their own bodies.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Genuis. We'll have to
leave it there.

Mr. Fonseca.

Mr. Peter Fonseca (Mississauga East—Cooksville, Lib.):
Thank you, Chair.

Let me thank the witnesses for the tremendous work they do. We
are all so impressed by everything you are able to accomplish.

I'm going to go along the same line of questioning Mr. Genuis
just brought up.

We've heard from many other witnesses about wrap-around ser-
vices and how important education is, in particular health and re-
productive health rights education. When young women and girls
go to school, I'm sure they get this education about their own bod-
ies, about choice, also about nutrition and being able to get food.
We heard from CODE, from Mr. Walter, that marriage is at 13, 14
and 15, taking away the empowerment, the control, that these
young women and girls have.

Can you tell us about that? How important is it to have sexual
and reproductive health rights education, and how important is that
for their empowerment?

® (1625)

Mr. Scott Walter: I'll jump in.

I would say that with education, young women can make in-
formed decisions. That's number one. With literacy, it leads to high-
er-order thinking skills. Really, what comes with that is problem
solving and critical thinking. It's all about being able to make in-
formed decisions once you have that information. But, yes—

Mr. Peter Fonseca: How important are sexual education and re-
productive health rights?

Mr. Scott Walter: They are critical. A comprehensive sexual ed-
ucation is critical to the equation you're talking about.

In many of the countries we're working with, they're very conser-
vative, traditional societies, and there's no allowing of that to be in
the curriculum. More and more, countries are now opening up to
that. They want to have stronger economies, healthier populations
and literate peoples, so they're opening up to that kind of curricu-
lum-based program.

Mr. Peter Fonseca: Yes, and also nutritional education, and so
on.

Does anybody else want to weigh in on how important it is that
young girls and women get that type of education, to be able to
have control of their lives?

Ms. Lorraine Swift: We definitely support the feminist interna-
tional assistance policy and the proliferation of information more
and more in the schools, in the hands of young women, around their
sexual and reproductive health and rights to that sexual and repro-
ductive health.
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Certainly, there are a lot of programs now that we can thank the
Government of Canada for providing leadership on. Certainly, of
course, we need more funding to get those into the hands of the girl
students, but that's a definite—

Mr. Peter Fonseca: And young boys—
The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Fonseca.

Mr. Peter Fonseca: Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you so much, both of you.

[Translation]

Mr. Bergeron, you have two and a half minutes.

Mr. Stéphane Bergeron: Mr. Chair, earlier reference was made
to the impact of COVID-19 on learning operations in developing
countries.

I would like to know what impact COVID-19 has had on your
operations. I am thinking in particular of the Change for Children
Association, which had school construction programs in some of
the communities in which it operates.

What impact has COVID-19 had on your operations in terms of
literacy efforts in developing countries?
[English]

Ms. Lorraine Swift: We have an education program, a technolo-
gy-enabled, indigenous mother-tongue language education pro-
gram, that also includes sexual and reproductive health and rights
education for girls in Guatemala that was closed down completely
because of school closures. We have a similar program in
Nicaragua where the schools remained open and we were able to
continue both our teacher training program and our student learning
programs in those schools. It's quite variable in terms of where
we're able to continue our work. It's based on the local govern-
ments' decisions and on whether or not they have closed schools.

Certainly, we've been responding to COVID. We also have large
water projects across Central America. In terms of water and sani-
tation, we've been able to provide a COVID response effort to the
beneficiary populations there. Then, of course, in Canada, we actu-
ally expected our revenues to go way down. We predicted a 60%
decline in donations because of COVID and also because we're
based in Alberta and our economy is in difficult times right now.
However, we actually saw our donations increase, so we know that
Canadians are supportive of international development investment,
and we know that Albertans are supportive of international devel-
opment investment. We are impressed by our citizens' ability to
support that.

® (1630)
[Translation]

Mr. Stéphane Bergeron: Does anyone else have a short answer
for me?

[English]

Mr. Scott Walter: I can just say that we work almost exclusively
through local partners, so they have managed to continue to work.
We've also had some very interesting programs where we've sup-
ported the local publications. They've developed anthologies to put

them into home-schooling kids. They've distributed them and then
partnered with local radio stations to have radio reading hours that
will reach students wherever they are.

[Translation]

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Bergeron.
[English]

Thank you very much, witnesses.

To finish off our round this afternoon, Ms. McPherson, you have
two and a half minutes, please.

Ms. Heather McPherson: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I was quite compelled by the questions of Mr. Bergeron, but also
I'd like to comment on how Mr. Walter talked about the cascading
impact of education loss and what that looks like.

1 would love just a very quick comment from all our witnesses
on what it would mean if we were able to have long-term—not just
three years, but long-term—predictable funding through the Gov-
ernment of Canada, and how that would impact your ability to do
good work and recover from the impacts of COVID-19 on your
programming.

Again, I'll start with Ms. Swift, if I could.

Ms. Lorraine Swift: Absolutely.

We are running kind of from project to project with gaps between
projects. We aren't able right now to commit long term to our part-
ner organizations in the south, to the communities where we work
or to the participants in our programs. We have been very lucky that
our funding continues from one funder to the next and that we're
able to sort of continue programs. However, it would be much more
advantageous for us and we could leverage more support from Al-
bertans and Canadians across the country if we were able to say,
“We have this long-term funding from the Government of Canada.
Will you also support this initiative?”” We could do much more, and
of course, we will have to do much more because the effects of
COVID and climate change are profound.

Ms. Heather McPherson: Mr. Eaton, could I ask you the same
question, please?

Mr. Chris Eaton: We could work with our local partners and
make long-term investments in quality education for the communi-
ties that we're concerned about. We're unable to do that fully at the
moment, but longer-term, predictable funding would allow us to do
so and would be of great benefit to the people we're particularly
concerned about.

Ms. Heather McPherson: Do I still have time, Mr. Chair?
The Chair: You have about 30 seconds, Ms. McPherson.

Ms. Heather McPherson: Wonderful.
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Mr. Walter or Mr. Champigny, either of you, perhaps you have
some comments on that.

Mr. Scott Walter: I'll just say very quickly that education is a
long-term goal, and there's no silver bullet in education. More than
in almost any other sector, you need predictability and you need
long-term funding. You invest in a child at age six, and by the time
the child is 16, you start to see the return on that investment.

The Chair: Thank you so much, Ms. McPherson.

Colleagues, that takes us to the end of our time with our witness-
es this afternoon.

As usual, I'd like to thank all of them on our collective behalf for
their expertise, their testimony and, most importantly, their service.
It was great to spend time with you. We would have appreciated
more time, but time is limited. There's always an opportunity for
you, if you haven't had a chance to express all your thoughts or rec-
ommendations, to address us in writing subsequent to this meeting.
Thank you again. We'll allow you a few minutes to disembark.

We have some business to attend to, colleagues. We're still in
public session.

We're continuing our discussion on the motion introduced by Mr.
Harris and Ms. McPherson. We most recently in our discussion on
this had an amendment on the floor that was introduced by Ms. Sa-
hota, if I'm correct.

I'd like to hand her the floor to continue to speak to that amend-
ment. Then we will take a speakers list as usual, through the “raise
hand” feature, please.

Madam Clerk, let's do the same thing we did last time with re-
spect to members who are present in the committee room.

Ms. Sahota, please go ahead.

Ms. Ruby Sahota (Brampton North, Lib.): Thank you for giv-
ing me the floor, Chair.

I should probably start with a refresher for everybody, because |
believe the last time we spoke to my amendment was last Thursday,
a week ago.

I'm sorry, Ms. McPherson, that we weren't able to get to it on
Tuesday. Anyway, I'm really glad that we got our interim report
done, finally. That's good news, at least.

My amendment is to Mr. Harris's motion.
® (1635)

Mr. Garnett Genuis: I'm sorry, I have a point of order, Mr.
Chair.

The Chair: Yes, please, Mr. Genuis.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: I would just encourage us to be careful
about matters that were or were not concluded in camera being dis-
cussed, given that we are in public.

Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Genuis.

Ms. Ruby Sahota: Right. Thank you, Mr. Genuis. I'm glad I
didn't go into detail with this. Thanks for the heads-up. I will try my

best to be more careful. I don't want to let the cat out of the bag
about the report.

Going back to the amendment to Mr. Harris's motion, the amend-
ment that [ proposed was basically a rewording of the first sentence
so that the motion would read, “That the committee recognizes that,
due to global circumstances, the government has faced delays in the
supply of vaccines for Canadians through national manufacturing
and international procurement”. The rest of it goes on as is and then
I have removed the final sentence of the motion.

If everyone has the motion in front of them, hopefully they have
the amendment as well. The last sentence, which is removed, is,
“Finally, that the committee report this motion to the House.”

Maybe I'll start with “Finally, that the committee report this mo-
tion to the House”. The reason I proposed these changes to Mr.
Harris's motion is that I'm really opposed to our reporting every
comment or feedback we get to the House in this way without hav-
ing done some thorough study or investigation of it. The commit-
tee's work is to actually do some work on a matter and then report
that to the House, as we have been doing in the study that we cur-
rently have before us. It's not to make a statement and then just
send it to the House.

A lot of work needs to be done on this issue. I said last time that
I appreciate the NDP's sentiments on this, but what I don't appreci-
ate is our just blocking up House time, without doing the work that
this committee should be doing. That is essentially what we're see-
ing. In many committees, we're seeing motions just being sent to
the House so that they can be concurred in and so that we can spend
four hours of House time and delay a lot of important legislation.

I want to make sure that all the members in this committee are
basically aware of what the consequences of continuing to go down
this road could be. The consequences we're currently going through
right now are that Bill C-14 has not been given the due time it
needs to move forward. Bill C-14 is the fall economic statement. It
is important for Canadians. It's important in the context of this pan-
demic.

Just as the sentiment of this motion about vaccines going to poor
or middle-income countries...I absolutely agree that this pandemic
should be first and foremost on our minds as a government, and it
is. Our delaying support to Canadians and delaying legislation in
the House, however, is not what is going to help Canadians or de-
veloping countries.

Another piece of legislation that's in the House, which I think is
important for the safety of Canadians, is Bill C-19, an act to amend
the Canada Elections Act. That piece of legislation, I think, has not
had any time in the House—

Ms. Heather McPherson: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: We have a point of order.

Ms. McPherson.
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Ms. Heather McPherson: I'm sorry to interrupt the member, but
we have very limited time, and I don't know that listing all of the
bills that have to come forward to the House is actually how we
want to move forward on this. We have not had sufficient time to
talk about the actual meat of this motion yet, despite the fact that I
tabled it some time ago, so unless the member is going to actually
talk about this motion, not, in fact, all of the bills coming forward
in the House.... I would prefer that we stick to this motion.

® (1640)

The Chair: Ms. McPherson, | believe she was addressing conse-
quences of the motion, so I will allow this thought to be expressed.
I think it is part of the consequences of what would happen if we go
down this path.

Hon. Hedy Fry (Vancouver Centre, Lib.): I have a point of or-
der, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Yes, Dr. Fry. Is it on the same point of order?

Hon. Hedy Fry: No, I would like to suggest that the freedom of
a member of this committee to discuss and debate an issue of im-
portance to this committee should not be curtailed by another mem-
ber. The tradition of committees is that we discuss until we are hap-
py, as we did with our report until we were happy with the report,
until we all believed that we could feel safe in putting that out be-
cause our names are on it.

Ms. Heather McPherson: As long as we were talking about the
report.

Hon. Hedy Fry: She is speaking about the report, Mr. Chair, so |
do think that that was not a point of order, as you so rightly pointed
out. I wanted to raise my voice to support you, as the chair, in de-
ciding that this is not a valid point of order.

Thank you.

The Chair: I believe Ms. McPherson was getting to the question
of relevance. Your point was a broader one, which is the privilege
of the member to speak unrestrained at committee, and that point is
also important. I thank you both for your points of order.

I'll pass the floor back to Ms. Sahota, unless there are additional
comments on this point of order.

Mr. Robert Oliphant (Don Valley West, Lib.): I would add to
that point of order that I would hope the chair would caution all
members to make sure that points of order are points of order. Yes,
you can call on relevance, but you can't call on whether or not there
are motivations behind the member's speech. That is up to the
member. That's a long-standing tradition.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Oliphant.
Are there any other points on this point of order? Okay.

Ms. Sahota, we will give the floor back to you.
Ms. Ruby Sahota: Thank you.

I appreciate the comments that all my colleagues have made. I do
take some exception to Ms. McPherson trying to get me back on
track. I think I'm completely on track. I think it's important that I'm
speaking to my amendment. My amendment is to remove the last
sentence. Part of my amendment is to remove the last sentence of
the NDP motion, and I think it is important, if we do get to a vote

on my amendment or essentially the motion unamended or amend-
ed, that we need to understand what the impacts are.

I want to make it very clear so that we all have a good under-
standing before we vote on these things. Also, I even want to, per-
haps through the discussion that we're going to have on this, fully
understand where the NDP or other parties that wish to support the
original amendment were going with this and what the intention re-
ally is. Is the intention for us to better understand the Covax initia-
tive? Is it to better understand how Canada can play a better role in
providing vaccines not only to Canadians but also in supporting
other countries? Is that essentially what we're trying to achieve or
are we trying to achieve something else?

1 would argue that at the end of the day, that last sentence is real-
ly there to try to achieve something else. That's happening not just
in this committee. It's happening in many committees. We're seeing
many things being done so that all of the House time is blocked up
with opposition motions and concurrence motions. We're even see-
ing—we just saw here on Tuesday.... Actually, I won't mention that
part, but we are seeing in other committees as well attempts to
bring whatever issue it is, reports and such, to the House as quickly
as possible so that they can be concurred in, so that there can be de-
bate on those issues in the House. I want us to fully understand
what's at stake here.

I know, to Ms. McPherson and to her party, that Bill C-15 is in-
credibly important. Bill C-15 is an act respecting the United Na-
tions Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples. UNDRIP is
something that one of her esteemed colleagues from the NDP has
worked very hard on to make sure that the government would move
on this piece of legislation so that we could recognize those rights
within our own country. It's very important to me, but seeing how
things are evolving, I really hope that we get this work done in this
Parliament.

If we continue to send all the work that we're supposed to do in
committees to the House, then we're not going to get anywhere
with legislation at all. Why are we trying to get rid of work that we
should rightfully be doing in this committee as members? We
should be doing our job. We should be bringing, perhaps, the minis-
ter in to try to figure out how this program of Covax was put to-
gether, what it was intended for. We could be bringing in other wit-
nesses if those proposals are on the table. But all I'm seeing in this
original motion is an attempt to make some value judgements and
to send this to the House so it can block up legislation. That's what
I'm seeing.

That's why I'm trying to get to a point where maybe we can come
up with a solution that would better serve the sentiments behind—
or at least what I hope are the true sentiments behind—this motion,
the original motion, to make sure that we're doing our role as a
leader.

Some of the language I haven't even attempted to amend, really,
because I was trying to do the least possible amount of amendment
to the original motion so that I wouldn't offend the original motion's
intent. There's definitely language beyond that, with which I'm not
happy, but I let it go. I'm trying to do the bare minimum so that we
can still move on and do some important work and look into the
whole Covax initiative.
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That's why I haven't removed the fact that Covax was an initia-
tive that was intended to provide vaccines to high-risk individuals
in low- and middle-income countries.

® (1645)

With regard to the intent of Covax's program and the initiative, I
think there's a failure to completely understand what the intent of
that program is. It is to provide equitable access. That doesn't say
it's to deny any developed country access to Covax. It is to ensure
that all countries that are investing in and supplementing this pro-
gram could also benefit from this program. It is an equal opportuni-
ty program. I'm really proud that Canada is a leader in the invest-
ments that it's made into Covax.

Another issue which I think is important is.... God forbid, I don't
want this to happen, and I don't think most members that sit on my
other committee really would like this to happen, but when I was
interrupted before, I was about to say that we have Bill C-19 also in
the House. That is election legislation. It is something that the elec-
tions commissioner has asked us to pass so that they can prepare if
there were to be an election in this pandemic. The government
doesn't control that necessarily. Things can happen. Oftentimes,
you know, I'm getting to the point that—

Ms. Heather McPherson: I have a point of order again, Mr.
Chair.

Do you still deem this relevant?

Ms. Ruby Sahota: [Technical difficulty—Editor] House, making
sure—

The Chair: One second, Ms. Sahota.

Ms. McPherson, what is your point of order?

Ms. Heather McPherson: Is this relevant? Do you find that this
is relevant to this motion?

The Chair: I believe it is, yes.
Ms. Heather McPherson: Okay.

The Chair: Ms. Sahota, go ahead, please.
Ms. Ruby Sahota: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I haven't been a member of another minority parliament, but
what I have been told by others who have been members of minori-
ty parliaments is that things can occur, especially when we get to a
point where there is a lot of disagreement, where legislation is es-
sentially no longer able to move through the House and you have a
log jam basically. No work is getting done. Canadians have sent us
here to do work, to pass important legislation, for committees to
work.

Oftentimes we hear this ideal notion that minority parliaments
are wonderful because there is so much co-operation and consensus
building. I'm hoping that we can build some consensus at this com-
mittee today and work together to make sure that the House has
time to do the important work that is needed for Canadians. If we
don't go down that path of working together and we have that log
jam, it is possible we could end up having an election. It's possible
that we could end up getting to a place where no one is willing to
work together. I would hate to see that happen, but I would really
hate to see that happen before Bill C-19 passes.

Without having election legislation passed, and without it getting
past second reading, getting to its committee so that the committee
can do important work on that legislation and bring forward amend-
ments and then send it back to the House to go through the third
reading stage, we won't be able to give the elections commissioner
the important powers that are needed to make sure that an election
would be run in the safest way possible for Canadians.

I feel it is our responsibility to make sure that we are doing the
right thing for Canadians at the end of the day. That is very impor-
tant.

We have in the House as well Bill C-12, an act respecting trans-
parency and accountability in Canada's efforts to achieve net zero
greenhouse gas emissions by the year 2050. I think that's a very im-
portant piece of legislation as well, and I'm hoping that the NDP
and the Green Party are going to be very supportive of that legisla-
tion, and who knows, maybe the Conservatives will be as well. You
just never know.

I'm eager to see all of that work get done in the House so I can
see for myself what ends up happening, but right now what's hap-
pening is nothing, absolutely nothing. That is why I come back to
why it's important for us to revisit this motion and to understand the
repercussions it would have in the House if we were to pass it as is.
I think that would be a complete failure of this committee to do its
work.

That was some of the language I wanted changed in the original
motion. I don't think that the government's work in procuring vac-
cines for Canadians can be described as it is. I sincerely believe—
and I know Canadians do too, and I know at the very least that my
colleagues will back me on this—that we are currently seeing vac-
cines come into our country, and we're going to continue to see vac-
cines flow into Canada even more quickly than what might be
doable by the provinces to roll them out, but I'm very optimistic. I
think Canadians are too. I'm starting to hear a lot of relief on that
end from my constituents. I know they are very concerned. Their
number one concern is getting vaccines to our seniors, to immuno-
compromised people, to those who work at the front line.

When we come back to Covax, in terms of the amount of vaccine
that Canada would be receiving through Covax, I believe it would
be somewhere in the area of 1.9 million doses by the end of June.
The majority of doses that we are currently receiving are through
Moderna. We are receiving doses through AstraZeneca. We're re-
ceiving Pfizer doses, of course. Pfizer is the largest number that
we're receiving.

® (1650)

I know there might be some delays in the Covax shipments to de-
veloped countries, but I was happy to hear that—

[Translation]
Mr. Stéphane Bergeron: On a point of order, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Yes, Mr. Bergeron.

[English]

Go ahead, please.



14 FAAE-20

February 25, 2021

[Translation]

Mr. Stéphane Bergeron: 1 am sorry to interrupt my colleague,
but I see that almost all our Liberal colleagues have raised their
hands.

Are we systematically filibustering to prevent this motion from
being adopted by the end of the hour?

Ms. Sahota has already been speaking for 25 minutes and she
doesn't seem to have finished. I have asked for the floor, but I get
the impression that they do not intend to let us speak on the subject.

So, if they're trying to prevent the motion from passing by the
end of the day, we could just adjourn the meeting and go home.

I find what I am witnessing at the moment extremely deplorable.
It seems to me that government members are systematically filibus-
tering to prevent the adoption of this motion, amended or not. Yet,
having spoken with Ms. McPherson and with the minister, I came
here in a spirit of compromise, and I find that few of my colleagues
are acting in the same spirit. At least not many on the government
side.

I'm a bit exasperated by what's going on right now. Let me point
that out to you, Mr. Chair.
® (1655)

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Bergeron, but I am not
convinced that this is a point of order—

[English]

Hon. Hedy Fry: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: One second, please. Let me briefly address Mon-
sieur Bergeron's point, Dr. Fry, and then we'll go to you.

It's my understanding that Ms. Sahota was very directly address-
ing the consequences of this motion and her perception of the vac-
cine distribution. I don't see that there's any issue with relevance.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Oh, come on.

The Chair: Monsieur Bergeron, you are actually in line to speak
after Ms. McPherson and Dr. Fry, so you have your place in line
and you will be able to share your reflections.

I don't believe procedurally, Madam Clerk, that this is a point of
order, but maybe you could clarify for the committee.

Hon. Hedy Fry: Point of order, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: One second, Dr. Fry. Just let me address Monsieur
Bergeron's point. Then I'll go right to you.

Madam Clerk, is there a point of order that can be raised on fili-
buster? I'm not aware, but you may have clarification.

The Clerk of the Committee (Ms. Erica Pereira): No, Mr.
Chair.

The Chair: Thank you very much.
Dr. Fry.

Hon. Hedy Fry: Mr. Chair, I understand Mr. Bergeron's concern
in wondering if there's a hidden agenda here or whatever. The point
is—and according to rules of committee—a member is speaking,

and when that member is finished, I would like to support her mo-
tion.

That is part of what we do with a motion. When a motion is
moved for an amendment, one supports it or one disagrees with it.
My hand is up because I want to support her amendment with re-
gard to removing that last sentence, and I would like to have the
privilege as a committee member to speak to my support for that
amendment and to all the reasons why I think it is important. My
hand is still up, Mr. Chair, to speak when my time comes.

I understand Mr. Bergeron's concern, but I think that one can al-
ways read a hidden agenda into everything if one chooses to. As far
as I'm concerned, I do not have a hidden agenda. I want my privi-
lege to be able to support the member's amendment.

Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Dr. Fry.

I think we're getting into points of debate that are being raised
under points of order.

Just for the members' benefit for the moment, the speakers list
following Ms. Sahota consists of Ms. McPherson, Dr. Fry, Mon-
sieur Bergeron and Mr. Fonseca.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Mr. Chair, I have a point of order on the
agenda. Could you clarify how much time this committee could
have to go past 5:30 if it's the wish of the committee to do so?

Could you also clarify this point? On our agenda, we're supposed
to be considering the draft report on the Uighur issue. Is there an
intention to proceed to that at some point, or will we not get to that
if the lengthy speeches continue?

Could you clarify those points on the agenda?

The Chair: Mr. Genuis, thank you for the point of order.

It is at the will of the committee what they choose next. The
Uighur report is an item on the agenda, not with a defined time
frame, but it is an item that is on the agenda. I'm advised that
tonight we will not have the ability to extend past 5:30. Unless I
stand corrected on that, that's the most recent advice I've received.

We will go back to Ms. Sahota.

Ms. Ruby Sahota: Thank you.

It's interesting that I heard my colleague Mr. Genuis, who I have
a lot of respect for, laugh at my perception of the vaccine rollout. I
guess maybe it was mentioned, but it's just interesting.... I've spent
many hours listening to Mr. Genuis debate at length and oftentimes
just read out of textbooks, which I have found barely—

Mr. Garnett Genuis: I have never done that.

Ms. Ruby Sahota: It has been extremely hard to link to the—
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Mr. Garnett Genuis: ['ve always filibustered extemporaneously.
Ms. Ruby Sahota: I have seen you read out of textbooks.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Find the clip.

Hon. Hedy Fry: Mr. Genuis, come on. Let's move on.

The Chair: Let's stay with the speakers list, colleagues, please.
Ms. Ruby Sahota: I'll send that clip to you, for sure.

I did think that he always found a way to link it back to the issue
at hand, and at this point, I would say that I have not strayed from
the issue at hand at all.

My intention, really, right now is to find that consensus for my
amendment so that we can move forward. I know the draft report
consideration, as Mr. Genuis has mentioned, is very important as
well. If you would like to table this amendment for now, that's okay
with me. If there's consensus at the committee to table this issue
right now and move on to the draft report, that's fine. I think that's
important work that this committee could be doing.

When it comes to this motion, I want to retain my right to be able
to speak to my amendment until I feel I can garner some support on
my position. I'll go back, unless I hear from committee members
otherwise.

You're free to talk amongst yourselves, if you like, to see if you
can build some consensus. That is fine. I'm willing to amend my
amendment or maybe have a subamendment if somebody thinks
that might be appropriate, but I just don't think that the original mo-
tion as it stands in its original form is appropriate.

I'll continue to explain why.
® (1700)

Mr. Garnett Genuis: On a point of order, again, Mr. Chair, I'd
like to seek unanimous consent to first allow Ms. McPherson to—

The Chair: Hold on, Mr. Genuis. I'm not sure that you can intro-
duce a motion on a point of order.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Well, it's for unanimous consent. If people
aren't interested in hearing it, that's their business. I'm trying to cre-
ate a procedure by which we can at least get the Uighur report
done.

If people want to give me an opportunity to move for unanimous
consent to do that—

The Chair: Okay. Let's hear it, briefly, Mr. Genuis.
Mr. Garnett Genuis: Thank you.

What I would propose, if there's unanimous consent for this, is
that Ms. McPherson be allowed to deliver some brief remarks on
this issue. Then we will adjourn debate on this issue. Adjourning
debate doesn't mean going to a vote on the issue; it means it can be
brought back at a future point. Then we would adjourn debate on
this issue and that would still leave us, hopefully, with 20 or so
minutes to address the Uighur report so that we could at least get
something done.

That's my proposal for unanimous consent.
Ms. Ruby Sahota: Point of order.
Hon. Hedy Fry: Point of order, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Let's stay in sequence here.

There's a point of order.
Hon. Hedy Fry: Point of order.

The Chair: There's a point of order on Mr. Genuis's point of or-
der, raised by Dr. Fry.

Hon. Hedy Fry: Mr. Chair, there are procedures in place—
they're written in a book that we were all given when we first be-
came MPs—on how committees and standing committees must
proceed with the work that they have to do. We cannot suddenly de-
cide that we don't want to follow those procedures and create our
own new procedures. Doing that is out of order, as far as I'm con-
cerned, Mr. Chair.

The order, at the moment, is that a member has duly, according
to her privilege, introduced an amendment to a motion on the floor.
We will debate it because that is what the rules say. She will debate
her own points of order, and those of us who support her or do not
support her, have an opportunity to speak to or against her amend-
ment. The order on the floor right now is the debating of an amend-
ment to a motion introduced by Ms. McPherson.

Until the debate on that amendment is finished, there should be
nothing else moving that procedure off, because anything else
would be against the order of the committee's rules at the moment.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Dr. Fry, thank you.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: The committee can, by unanimous con-
sent, do anything it wants to.

The Chair: Mr. Genuis, wait one second please. Let's stay in se-
quence here.

I take it, Dr. Fry, that through your point of order, you've ex-
pressed a view that there is no unanimous consent on Mr. Genuis's
proposal.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Fair enough.
Hon. Hedy Fry: That's it exactly, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: We will pass the floor back to Ms. Sahota.

Ms. Ruby Sahota: I kind of had a point of order there, too. [
want some clarification on the points of order that just took place. I
know you can't move a motion on a point of order, but what was
tricky there was that Mr. Genuis was not just trying to get consen-
sus on moving to the draft report and tabling this issue for now and
maybe coming back to it later, but he was also trying to take my
position on the floor away from me and give it to Ms. McPherson. |
don't think I'm willing to cede the floor right now.

Could I get clarification on that as well? That's where I was con-
fused.

The Chair: Procedurally, we may need some advice here.
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Ms. Sahota, I think what you're raising implicitly is a point of
privilege. Maybe we can pass it to the clerk to help us sift through
that and see how to best answer it. In any event, I believe we do
not, at this point, have unanimous consent, which means the floor
would revert to you.

Madam Clerk, could you advise?
® (1705)

The Clerk: Mr. Chair, I would suggest that when you gave the
floor to Mr. Genuis after he indicated that he was seeking unani-
mous consent, he did at that point legitimately have the floor. How-
ever, he does not have unanimous consent to move that motion or
for it to be agreed to.

At this point, I would consider any debate on this collapsed. The
floor would be returned to Ms. Sahota.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Madam Clerk.

Just for future reference, is it permissible, then, to raise a point of
unanimous consent, if that's the right term, on a point of order—or
raise a question of unanimous consent on a point of order rather
than a motion? Can a member solicit the unanimous consent of the
committee at any time through a point of order?

The Clerk: No, Mr. Chair. Points of order are really reserved for
when a member thinks the rules of the committee are being
breached. They would have to indicate which rule is being
breached to make it a proper point of order.

The Chair: That's helpful to all members, I believe, Madam
Clerk.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Mr. Chair, just for clarification, my under-
standing of the committee rules is that a committee can do anything
it wants by unanimous consent. It's a moot point anyway, because
there's no unanimous consent.

Hon. Hedy Fry: No.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: This happens all the time in the House. We
constantly have members of the House rising on points of order to
seek unanimous consent on points of procedure or substantive mat-
ters. Is it the point that this can happen in the House but it can't
happen in committee?

Hon. Hedy Fry: That's not what you're seeking. That's not what
you're seeking.

The Clerk: Mr. Chair, if I may—
The Chair: Please.

The Clerk: —the committee can proceed to some things on
unanimous consent, but it is a freedom with limitations. You cannot
overturn the Standing Orders, for example, and you cannot overturn
higher procedural authorities.

In this particular case, once you had moved your point of order
and gotten the attention of the chair, and the chair gave you the
floor legitimately, then you could seek unanimous consent. In the
House, unanimous consent is really used to move along procedure,
such as unanimous consent being sought for concurrence in com-
mittee reports of PROC, or for membership changes, for example.
Those are the real reasons unanimous consent is generally used. In
committee it can be used the same way. In this case, I would sug-
gest that it was, but it did not pass.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Perfect. Thank you.
The Chair: That's helpful, Madam Clerk. Thank you very much.

The floor reverts to Ms. Sahota.
Ms. Ruby Sahota: Okay. Now to remember where I left off....

That was helpful, though. Every time you learn a little bit more
about procedure, it updates and refreshes your memory or your
knowledge.

I think I was at the point | wanted to make about the initial rea-
son for the WHO having initiated and coordinated—

Mr. Robert Oliphant: Mr. Chair, I would like to raise a point of
order.

The Chair: Yes, Mr. Oliphant.

Mr. Robert Oliphant: [ was trying to do that, but my micro-
phone was up on my head.

1 just want it on the record that I do not think it is appropriate to
use a point of order to make what was a de facto motion. I don't
want it to become—

Mr. Garnett Genuis: You're on a point of order now.
Mr. Robert Oliphant: —the standard of this committee.

I'm not making a motion. I'm wanting to make it very clear—
Mr. Garnett Genuis: You're making an editorial comment.

Hon. Hedy Fry: Will you just let somebody speak, Mr. Genuis,
when they're speaking?

Mr. Garnett Genuis: It's not a point of order.

The Chair: Colleagues, let's please maintain order.

Mr. Oliphant has the floor.

Mr. Robert Oliphant: It is a point of order. I am not going to
challenge the chair on this. However, I want to make it very clear,
at least in the record of the committee, that I am saying that it is not
appropriate for the chair to be giving the floor to someone in the
midst of someone's speech and who then uses it to make a de facto
motion and request unanimous consent.

I do believe the clerk was right by saying that once he had the
floor, he could actually make a motion, and he asked then if there
was unanimous consent to do it. However, the problem was prior to
that, when the floor was yielded to him when it wasn't truly a point
of order. I just want to make sure we don't go down that road, be-
cause we would then be outside the Standing Orders. You can only
make a motion when you duly have the floor, which we have decid-
ed by convention on this committee is by the order on the speakers
list kept jointly by the chair and the clerk.

I really think that was a very difficult moment, and I think it
needs to be noted in our minutes.
® (1710)

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Point of order.

The Chair: Mr. Oliphant, thank you. That confirms the advice of
the clerk.
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Is there another point of order?
Mr. Garnett Genuis: I have a point of order on that.

Mr. Chair, Mr. Oliphant's comments do not confirm the advice of
the clerk, because what the clerk said was that it is a reasonable
practice within the existing framework of the Standing Orders for
unanimous consent motions to be proposed which are designed to
facilitate or expedite the work of the committee, and that is what I
was seeking to do. I was trying to propose, by unanimous consent,
a procedure that would allow us to actually get through the work
we need to get done. There were members on the government side
who rejected that unanimous consent motion.

That's fine. That's their right, but it is very common, including
during filibuster scenarios, as happened at PROC during a filibuster
scenario, where unanimous consent was sought to do things proce-
durally to move things along or to create certain accommodations.
For instance, in the middle of a speech, you can say “unanimous
consent to suspend” or “unanimous consent to allow someone else
to intervene”.

The use of unanimous consent for procedural abridgement is
very common and is necessary for a well-functioning committee. If
one person doesn't like it, they can always simply say no to that
point of unanimous consent, but it is normal and proper, and I'm
trying to propose a path forward. If members don't like that path
forward, if they don't want to move on from this debate to create
time for something else to be done, that's fine. They can say no to
unanimous consent, but this is a normal procedure, and that has
been confirmed by the clerk's advice.

The Chair: Mr. Genuis, thank you for that.

I just want to circle back one more time to the clerk, because the
way I understood it was that the desire or the solicitation of unani-
mous consent is not properly sought on a point of order, which is
really just to clarify a breach of the Standing Orders with reference
to a particular standing order that the member, in her or his percep-
tion, believes has been broken.

Madam Clerk, how do members seek, and at what point can they
seek, the unanimous consent of the committee for procedural or
other reasons?

The Clerk: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

On a point of order, you may not move a motion, including a mo-
tion for unanimous consent.

In this particular case, Mr. Genuis moved his point of order, and
then you did indicate that you were going to give him the floor. At
that point, he had the floor legitimately. Usually, in the normal
course of things, members will gain the floor legitimately through
their turn on the speaking list or if the chair gives them the floor.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Madam Clerk. That is help-
ful.

Ms. Sahota, we'll go back to you.

Ms. Ruby Sahota: Thank you. I appreciate that.

I'd like to reflect a little on that as well. I'm thinking back to per-

haps something I said may have instigated some of this, and that
was for us to work together to come up with a solution, a compro-

mise, and perhaps Mr. Genuis was trying to jump the gun a little to
try to get to that consensus. So I give him the benefit of the doubt
that maybe he wasn't trying to do something tricky, but I do feel he
was giving up my position on the floor maybe to get to a better
place. He can definitely raise his hand if he hasn't done so, and Ms.
McPherson is next as well, so they will definitely have their time to
propose different compromises that perhaps would be feasible to
move this committee in a positive direction and get us working on
something that will help Canadians and people around the world.

Turning to the purpose of Covax, I think the original motion fails
to understand the real purpose behind this initiative. Covax was a
global vaccine-sharing initiative that a whole bunch of countries
joined. The goal of this initiative was to accelerate the development
and manufacturing of COVID-19 vaccines. This was to guarantee
fair and equitable access for every country in the world.

It was not at the expense of the investing countries to not be able
to get any vaccines out of this initiative or out of the vaccines that
are manufactured. Nowhere did it say that wealthy countries are to
invest without receiving anything in return. It was quite the oppo-
site. The whole purpose of this initiative was so that the countries
that invested were also to receive some benefit out of this program.
By doing so, my belief is it encourages more countries to enter into
this program, which helps supplement vaccines for the developing
world and to other countries as well.

1 think at some point I mentioned we just heard an announcement
that Ghana received 600,000 vaccines through Covax just the other
day. There might be some delays there as well, but many countries
are seeing delays when it comes to vaccines. We've seen delays for
various reasons that are outside our control because of the ramping
up of manufacturing, the changes to lines and all of that. But, it is
still good news that we are starting to see these vaccines roll out
from Covax. I think in large part it's good that Canada has played a
large role in that being possible today.

Our initial investment in September—and there has been more
since then—was for $440 million. Half of this investment was go-
ing to secure doses for Canadians and the other half was going to-
ward helping other countries. Right there you know that is the
agreement Canada had entered into. As I said at the beginning, I
understand the sentiments and the emotions that may take us away
from what we think this program was all about and what it actually
was all about.

1 also want to mention, as I have mentioned before, I'm sure
many of my colleagues might be aware that other countries such as
Singapore, New Zealand and many others on that growing list have
also secured vaccines through this program, just like Canada.

We've also heard the minister. There have been a lot of questions
in the House already on this issue. The ministers are there at ques-
tion period to answer questions on these issues.

® (1715)

However, I understand that my colleagues may want to get more
in-depth answers on this issue so that we can understand this pro-
gram better. I am of the mindset that it would be a great idea. I
think it would be great to have the minister come and explain this
program to us a little bit better.
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The minister has been explaining in the media, and Minister
Gould has been explaining in question period. I know that some of
the opposition members in this committee as well have posed ques-
tions on various platforms, and question period is always there. It's
a part of our House proceedings and our House time to raise these
important issues.

Otherwise, I think it's important for us to recognize that the com-
mittee should be doing that work, and it should not be taking over
legislative time to debate this issue.

I want to talk a bit about the terms and conditions that Gavi had
outlined for participants in Covax. The terms and conditions them-
selves stated: “These 'Terms and Conditions' set out the basis on
which [self-financing economies] will participate in the COVID-19
Vaccine Global Access Facility” and that “all economies are invited
to participate, and all participating economies will benefit by secur-
ing access to vaccine supply made available through the Facility.”

This is actually in the terms and conditions of the agreement that
was signed by the government. It goes on to state:

Economies of all financial means can participate with the degree of support for
the AMC Group Participants determined by the resources raised by the COVAX
AMC.

...The world will need to work together to overcome the pandemic, and the Fa-
cility will work best with as many economies as possible committing to this col-
laborative global effort. Everyone contributes so that everyone can benefit. This
principle will be realised through clear political and financial commitments.

When we see that this is a part of the terms and conditions laid
out at the onset, then I would argue that the motion we're trying to
pass at this committee is really false. It's a false notion. It's a false
narrative and it's a very partisan narrative that is trying to be spun
against the best interests of, I would argue, Canadians, and against
the best interests of people around the world as well.

This is a really big issue right now. Vaccines for Canadians and
for people around the world are a big issue, and Canada has stepped
forward to make sure that Canadians are served well, but not just
Canadians, that those around the world will also benefit. That's
very important for us to make sure that we remember and that we
don't continue to raise this false narrative and worry people that
somehow Canada is gobbling up all the vaccines out of this pro-
gram. That's absolutely false.

It's absolutely false, and, like I said, the vaccines that Canada has
secured through this program are not even going to be received by
Canadians, by Canada, until the end of June. This issue right now I
think is something that we should explore in our committee by
bringing the minister in and by having other witnesses in order to
see perhaps what the actual impacts and effects are.

® (1720)

I would gather, as vaccine manufacturing is ramping up—and
we're seeing it right before our eyes right now, and we're going to
see it in the weeks to come as well—that since Canada has secured
so many doses of vaccines and we will have our population, all of
those who desire to be vaccinated, vaccinated by the end of
September, all of the vaccines that are going to be in surplus will
surely be going back to countries that need them the most.

Not only what we've contributed into Covax, to make sure we're
accelerating and increasing the capacity that they have in this initia-
tive, but also the other vaccines we've secured outside of Covax are
going to be going towards aid. That's really important. Canada is
going to be giving back and already has been paying it forward in a
really big way.

I think that should be recognized, and I don't think Canadians
should be tricked into believing this false narrative that somehow
Canada is not stepping up, that it's not fulfilling its international
role and duty. I just don't think that is fair.

Minister Gould has also been very clear on this. In answer to the
questions that were asked to her at committee, she did say that Cov-
ax was intentionally set up to have wealthy countries contribute
both to procuring vaccines and to growing purchasing power, so
they could subsidize vaccines for low-income countries while
working for equitable access.

She said that Canada is the second-largest contributor to the Cov-
ax AMC, and we're proud of that. It's historic that we've been able
to create and to collaborate with other countries and to be a part of
such a fantastic initiative that is going to help so many people
around the world. I think we should be proud that we've helped set
up this historic global mechanism.

Moving on from those points, if I don't have everyone convinced
that this is an interesting issue and that we should look at it in the
House—I mean in committee—sorry—and not in the House. Abso-
lutely, that is not what my intention is. I don't think we're going to
achieve anything in the House on this issue, because all that's going
to happen in the House is that members are going to get up and give
speeches on this issue, and then what? Conservative members will
give their speeches. They'll have their allotted time, and we'll have
three hours on the issue, let's say, and then we'll have a vote. The
vote will be to—what, to make a statement, to make a declaration
of some sort? I think what we can do on this committee goes far
beyond that.

I just don't think that vaccines and the health of Canadians and
the health of people around the world should be politicized in this
way. I can definitely say, and I'm sure that many members sitting
around this virtual committee table today can attest to the fact, that
at the beginning of this pandemic, and I would say also well into
this pandemic, what Canadians have been most proud of has been
our parties working together for the benefit of Canadians.

I've heard many times from my constituents that they like to see
cross-party collaboration. They like to see us working together.
They like to see the different levels of government working togeth-
er.

Absolutely, Peter, that's exactly what they like to see. They like
to see us hand in hand, working hard for Canadians.

This reeks a little bit of scoring political points and partisanship.
That's what this looks like to me. That's my personal opinion. I do
think there is a reason that the last sentence was added, and I don't
think it was added for any genuine purpose. I think it was added for
the reason I just stated. It's to gain some political points, unneces-
sary ones, really, because what we could be doing is talking
about....
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I think in committees is where we do the most collaborative
work. I always tell young people that, when I am mentoring them,
and they talk to me and come to seek advice as to whether they
should get into politics. They think it's such an ugly place. They
talk about the ugliness they see in question period. I tell them a lot
of work goes on behind the scenes, that there's a lot of camaraderie
and a lot of friendships develop, that there's a lot of co-operation,
even across parties and a lot of that work happens at committees.

People are not as tuned in to committees. There might be some
people watching us today since we're public. I'd like to thank all the
people who are watching the foreign affairs committee today. How-
ever, I'm also not naive. I don't think there are that many people
who have the time to tune in to committee work, but a lot of people
do see the little clips in question period. They start thinking that
this is what it's all about, the fighting and the one-sided questions,
and answers, for that matter.

I don't think so. I think there are so many places they don't get to
see and get an in-depth look at because they're busy working.
They're busy trying to make ends meet. We know they're extremely
busy in this pandemic. If they are having to isolate and stay home,
they're worried. They have something else on their minds, not fig-
uring out if the House of Commons will have a three-hour debate
on Covax or if we can work together in this committee. Can we
come up with a compromise where we can maybe see how pro-
grams like this, more initiatives could be created on how we can
improve the House of Canadians and those around the world?

I'm really enjoying the current study we're doing; however, it's
extremely heavy. To Ms. McPherson's credit, it takes somebody
with a really big heart to do the work she's done in aid and develop-
ment. It also leaves an emotional impact. I have a lot of respect for
all my colleagues for the hard work they do.

In conclusion, I want to get to a point where we can start doing
something really interesting in this committee—

® (1730)
The Chair: Ms. Sahota, let me interrupt you there.

Hon. Michael Chong (Wellington—Halton Hills, CPC): Mr.
Chair, I have a point of order.

The Chair: Yes, Mr. Chong.

Hon. Michael Chong: In the interests of many people anticipat-
ing the subcommittee's report on the Uighur genocide, I believe if
you seek it, you may find unanimous consent for the following mo-
tion: That the committee adopt the report of the Subcommittee on
International Human Rights titled “Human Rights Situation of the
Uighurs” and that the chair report this report to the House.

The Chair: Mr. Chong, that is a motion that should not be
brought on a point of order. I see heads shaking. I take that to mean
there is not unanimous consent at the moment.

In any event, [ was going to interrupt Ms. Sahota to let the com-
mittee know we're at 5:30 p.m. This is a hard constraint tonight be-
cause of other committee work taking place. With your consent we
will adjourn this discussion—

Mr. Garnett Genuis: On a point of order, Mr. Chair, I'd like to
challenge the chair's ruling with respect to Mr. Chong's motion.

The Chair: I've been challenged on the ruling that Mr. Chong's
motion should not have been brought on a point of order.

Madam Clerk, first of all, we have the 5:30 p.m. time issue. We
may have a minute to deal with this or we may not. I'm in your
hands on this. In any event, I don't believe we should simply over-
ride the fact that we have a hard time constraint at 5:30 p.m. with
respect to other committees having to do their work.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: That's why I put in the challenge.

Hon. Hedy Fry: Mr. Chair, I move that this meeting be now ad-
journed.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: I challenged the chair. We have to take a
vote on the challenge to the chair.

The Chair: Okay. Let's get advice to unravel this.

Madam Clerk.

Hon. Hedy Fry: No, that this committee be now adjourned is a
priority motion. I'm sorry.

Ms. Ruby Sahota: It's a dilatory motion.
The Clerk: Thank you, Mr. Chair, but—

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Ms. Fry did not have the floor when she
moved that.

Ms. Ruby Sahota: Neither did you. Neither did Mr. Chong.

The Clerk: Mr. Chair, a challenge to the decision of the chair is
also a dilatory motion that we would need to decide right away, but
I just need to clarify. Was it your decision that Mr. Chong did not
have the floor correctly to seek unanimous consent?

The Chair: That is correct. That's why I was challenged by Mr.
Genuis.

The Clerk: Mr. Genuis is challenging the decision of the chair.

The question is whether the decision of the chair should be sus-
tained.

(Ruling of the chair overturned: nays 6; yeas 5 [See Minutes of
Proceedings))

The Chair: That means then, effectively, Madam Clerk, that Mr.
Chong gets to seek the unanimous consent of the committee.

Mr. Chong.
Hon. Michael Chong: That's right.

I move, Mr. Chair, that the committee adopt the report of the
Subcommittee on International Human Rights titled “Human
Rights Situation of the Uighurs”, and that the chair report this re-
port to the House of Commons.

Ms. Ruby Sahota: I have a point of order.
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The Chair: Ms. Sahota, is there a point of order on Mr. Chong's
motion?

Ms. Ruby Sahota: No. I am confused about this and I need to
understand it better.

Earlier we heard from the clerk that codified procedures are su-
perior and stand above any other unanimous consent motions or
anything we would call for. After me—if [ was even seen to have
ceded the floor—it would have been Ms. McPherson's turn next.

Mr. Chong raised a point of order and then continued to bring a
motion on that point of order. The chair ruled according to what
Procedure and Practice states. How can that be challenged, when
it's not really a discretionary ruling? The chair did not make that
ruling based on his own discretion. He made it because he had to
make it. There was no other ruling he could have made.

® (1735)
Mr. Garnett Genuis: On the same point of order, Mr. Chair.
Hon. Hedy Fry: A point of order.

The Chair: Madam Clerk, perhaps you could just explain. Is that
a ruling that could have properly been challenged?

Hon. Hedy Fry: You did not cede the floor to him.

The Clerk: In committee, Mr. Chair, members are free to chal-
lenge the decision of the chair. In this case, your decision, your rul-
ing, was that Mr. Chong did not properly have the floor. The deci-
sion was challenged. The majority of the committee members de-
termined that Mr. Chong did properly have the floor.

The Chair: That means he now properly has the floor, unless
there's a point of order on his—

Hon. Hedy Fry: I have a point of order.

Ms. Ruby Sahota: But he had the floor properly. That's why I
was interested in the way in which the question was posed original-
ly on the challenge. The question that was posed was whether he
properly had the floor, and I don't think that was the question. Yes,
he properly had the floor on a point of order, but a point of order
does not provide you the opportunity to move this type of motion.
Yes, he had the floor, but not the ability to move a motion such as
this.

Shouldn't that be the question?
Hon. Hedy Fry: A point of order, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Yes, Dr. Fry.

Hon. Hedy Fry: I think the clerk, in the original instance in
which Mr. Genuis asked for a point of order and then, after the
chair ceded the floor to him, used that to move a motion to get
unanimous consent, had made a very clear ruling on that. He had
been given the floor in order to speak to whatever his motion was.

Then we had Mr. Chong, when there was a debate on the floor,
when there was a motion to end the meeting, coming up with his
own.... Having asked for a point of order, he did not speak to a
point of order. He moved a motion instead.

To my understanding, the chair said he did not allow Mr. Chong
to have the floor to speak to that motion. That was what we were
ruling on. If we're going to play politics with clear rulings that have
been made by the clerk and that are in the actual rule book, the

Standing Orders, on standing committees, then what is the point of
even looking at rules? Let's just have a free-for-all.

It seems to me that if we want to work together as a committee,
which Ms. Sahota has spoken about repeatedly—she thinks we
should all work together—how do we ever get to work together
when there is such disrespect shown for the rules and for the chair?
When someone is speaking, a person does not wait their turn. They
just jump in and decide they're going to utilize a bona fide rule,
which is a point of order, not to speak to a point of order—

Mr. Stéphane Bergeron: What about disrespect for your col-
leagues?

Hon. Hedy Fry: —and to speak over someone when they're
speaking. This happens a lot in this committee. No one waits their
turn. They just talk whenever they feel like it.

Mr. Chair, I am just suggesting that I think if we accept that the
chair was wrong in his ruling, then we are actually throwing away
the rule book on standing committees.

The Chair: Dr. Fry, I appreciate the point. Let me see if we can
unravel this.

My ruling had been overturned to give Mr. Chong the floor. He
has the floor. He was trying to seek unanimous consent. He can't
move a motion, but he can seek unanimous consent on a ruling that
has overturned mine.

If I detect, as I do seem to detect, that there is no unanimous con-
sent to accept this motion, in light of the fact that we're well past
5:30 p.m. and now cutting into the time of two other committees, [
suggest that we adjourn and continue this discussion at the next
possible opportunity. I think there are lots of views on both proce-
dure and substance—most importantly, on the substance of Ms.
McPherson's motion—that still need to be unpacked.

I take all the points that have been made by all members from all
sides with respect to privilege and the importance of parliamentary
dialogue. We're simply at the point now where I'm—

Mr. Garnett Genuis: On a point of order, Mr. Chair, Mr. Chong,
as a result of the vote of the committee, has a right to seek unani-
mous consent for the motion.

The Chair: Yes.
® (1740)

Mr. Garnett Genuis: At that point any member can say no to his
request for unanimous consent, and at that point the meeting can
adjourn. All of that needs to take only 30 seconds. I have much to
say about the procedural issues raised here, but I will save that for
another time, perhaps for private conversation.

Please allow Mr. Chong to move his motion according to the
wish of the committee—

The Chair: Well, he can't move a motion, Mr. Genuis, but he
can seek—

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Right. Let him seek unanimous consent
for the motion.
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The Chair: From the shaking of heads, I have gained the percep-
tion that—

Hon. Hedy Fry: I do not give consent. There is no unanimous
consent.

The Chair: Thank you, Dr. Fry.
With the consent of the committee, I believe this is a point where

we should adjourn tonight's discussion and resume it at the very
next opportunity.

I thank all members for their views. The vibrancy of the discus-
sion reflects the importance of both the procedural and the substan-
tive issues. I wish you a safe and good evening. We will see you at
the next opportunity.

The meeting is adjourned.
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